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[English]

The Chair (Mr. Bryan May (Cambridge, Lib.)): As we are
past 8:45 a.m., we're going to get started.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Tuesday, February 25, 2020, the committee is com-
mencing its study of the backlog of disability benefit claims at the
Department of Veterans Affairs.

I'm very pleased to welcome the witnesses today from the De-
partment of Veterans Affairs.

The first is General Walter Natynczyk, deputy minister of Veter-
ans Affairs Canada.

Welcome this morning.

General (Retired) Walter Natynczyk (Deputy Minister, De-
partment of Veterans Affairs): Thank you, sir.

The Chair: Next are Michel Doiron, assistant deputy minister,
service delivery; Steven Harris, assistant deputy minister, strategic
policy and commemoration; Sara Lantz, acting/assistant deputy
minister, chief financial officer and corporate services; and Rick
Christopher, director general, centralized operations.

Good morning and welcome to all of you.

Thank you for braving this beautiful winter morning that we are
having and for being here so promptly. I understand a few people
behind you may be joining us later. I will allow them to introduce
themselves at that point.

To start off us off this morning, I believe, General, that you have
some opening remarks.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Yes, Mr. Chair, thank you. I
hope my voice will project in the room.

Mr. Chair and members of the committee, good morning.

I would like to highlight that Captain Navy (Retired) Dr. Cyd
Courchesne, who is Veterans Affairs' chief medical officer, and
Lieutenant-Colonel (Retired) Dr. Alex Heber, who is Veterans Af-
fairs' chief psychiatrist, are joining me here and providing me back-
up.

I am very pleased to present you with an update on the efforts of
Veterans Affairs to support our veterans and their families.

[Translation]

Mr. Chair, ladies and gentlemen of the committee, I am pleased
to be here today to present the current state of our department to the
Standing Committee on Veterans Affairs.

[English]

Over our history, more than two million Canadians have served
our nation in uniform. Today, one in 57 Canadians has served at
some time in their lives, and those who serve and veterans are inte-
gral members of every community from coast to coast to coast.

Veterans Affairs' role is to provide services and benefits to all
military and RCMP veterans, Canadian Armed Forces and RCMP
serving members and their families. Currently, we have some
189,000 clients, representing about 18% of Canada's total veteran
population.

We also promote recognition and remembrance of the achieve-
ments and sacrifices of all those who have served Canada.

[Translation]

Our programming has evolved so that we can better meet the
needs of today's veterans. We take a holistic approach to maintain-
ing the health and well-being of veterans over their lifetimes.

[English]

More than 90% of our department's budget goes to programs and
services directly for veterans and their families. The department en-
sures that there are always sufficient funds available so that all vet-
erans who have an entitlement receive the benefits and services
they need.

[Translation]

To carry out its mandate, the department ensures there are always
sufficient funds available so that veterans receive the benefits and
services they need.

[English]

The majority of our budget is what is regarded as quasi-statutory
funding, which means the budget is non-discretionary and based on
an annual estimate of veterans' requirements for benefits and ser-
vices.
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We frame our estimates to ensure that we have adequate funds to
meet the projected veteran needs and that we stay in the black by a
small margin. When we see an increased demand, as we did in the
first quarter of last year, we requested and received additional
funds. Over the past five years, the trend has been to close the year
with just a little bit above the water line. I'm looking at my chief
financial officer. These funds are returned to the consolidated rev-
enue fund and then immediately returned to us at the next fiscal
year based upon the new forecast of veteran needs.

[Translation]

In other words, regardless of whether 10 or 10,000 veterans ap-
ply, they will receive the benefits they need, in accordance with our
funding system.

[English]

Indeed, more veterans are coming forward requesting support.
Since 2015, we have seen an increase of more than 60% of all dis-
ability application types and more than 90% in first applications.
This increased volume indicates that veterans are more aware of the
benefits they need and are entitled to receive for their well-being.
Veterans Affairs has responded to the increase in volume by simpli-
fying and consolidating benefits, adding and training staff, integrat-
ing various functions and, where possible, digitizing decision-mak-
ing processes.

We have streamlined the way we make decisions on benefits and
programs so that the less complex cases take less time, allowing en-
hanced and faster consideration of complex cases. We now triage
claims for disability benefits. This allows us to expedite applica-
tions for those veterans at higher risk.

We have hired hundreds of additional staff, including case man-
agers and others, who work directly with veterans. Additionally, we
have hired hundreds to process disability applications and to ad-
minister the pension for life benefits, which came into effect on
April 1 last year, and veterans can check the wait times for most
programs and services on the VAC website. More importantly, they
can track the status of their own applications through their online
My VAC Account, which now has over 108,000 users.

® (0855)
[Translation]

Our partnership with the Department of National Defence and
the Canadian Armed Forces is also helping to improve service de-
livery. We are working together more and more to reduce complexi-
ty of transition, harmonize services, provide clear guidance, inte-
grate case management and provide timely access to benefits and
services.

[English]

While we've made some progress in dealing with the increased
volume, we still have some way to go. We recognize that having a
backlog is not in the best interests of our veterans' well-being.

Each year thousands of members leave the forces and undergo a
period of transition. About two-thirds of the Canadian Armed
Forces members make a smooth transition to life after service.
About one-third report that they are not satisfied or have difficulty
in their transition.

Our research has found that their difficulties can be centred on
one or more of what we call the seven domains of well-being. The
well-being framework includes having purpose, financial security,
adequate shelter, physical and mental health, family support, inte-
gration into the community and pride in their identity.

As such, and to assist in the transition, the department has opera-
tionalized several programs with benefits in recent years to align
with these domains of well-being. For example, to incentivize re-
leasing members to prepare for civilian life and assist in finding
purpose, veterans with at least six years of service may access the
new education and training benefit or use the career transition ser-
vices program to assist in finding civilian employment.

Enhanced family programs recognize those who care for injured
veterans. Families of medically released veterans can now access
programs at 32 military family resource centres on the Canadian
Armed Forces bases.

Suitable housing is key to veterans' well-being. One homeless
veteran is indeed one too many.

[Translation]

The veterans emergency fund assists veterans in dire need who
are experiencing financial hardship. The department works with lo-
cal organizations to prevent homelessness, identify veterans at risk,
inform them about benefits, and help them find appropriate shelter
and treatment.

We are also working closely with Employment and Social Devel-
opment Canada under the national housing strategy and Canada's
homelessness strategy to bolster veteran housing initiatives.

[English]

To enable mental well-being, the department ensures that veter-
ans and their family members have the mental health support need-
ed. Veterans Affairs Canada partners with the provinces to fund a
network of specialized operational stress injury clinics across the
country providing veterans direct access to care. Each clinic pro-
vides assessment, treatment, prevention and support to serving
Canadian Armed Forces members, RCMP members, and veterans.
The clinics work closely with health care providers and organiza-
tions in the community to help follow up when needed.
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Veterans can access mental health supports even while awaiting a
decision on their disability application.

[Translation]

Any veteran, as well as their family, can call Veterans Affairs
Canada's assistance service 24 hours per day to speak immediately
with a mental health professional.

[English]

We understand the important role that families play in supporting
our veterans and continue to look at ways and means to support
them. Our policy that covers mental health services for family
members has remained fundamentally unchanged since 2010. The
purpose of providing mental health services to family members is
to support the veteran's treatment or rehabilitation toward wellness.
Meanwhile, if a family member requires long-term support or men-
tal health treatment for their own mental health condition, Veterans
Aftairs staff will assist them in locating assistance.

We continue to make strong efforts to prevent suicide. The im-
plementation of the joint Canadian Armed Forces and Veterans Af-
fairs Canada suicide prevention strategy helps reduce risk, build re-
silience and prevent suicide among our military members and vet-
erans. The department also funds a centre of excellence on PTSD
and related mental health conditions. Their research will enhance
the knowledge about effective assessment and treatment and will be
shared with mental health practitioners across the entire country.

Pride in their service and achievements and remembering the
sacrifice of brethren is key to veteran identity and well-being. Our
commemoration program is an essential component of the well-be-
ing framework.

Last year was very active for commemoration, with the 75th an-
niversary of the Italian campaign, D-Day, the Battle of Normandy
and the Battle of the Scheldt. The year 2019 also saw the fifth an-
niversary of the end of Canada's military mission in Afghanistan
and important progress toward a national monument to commemo-
rate those who served and those who made the ultimate sacrifice.

® (0900)

[Translation]

In 2020, we will also celebrate the 75th anniversary of the end of
the Second World War, the liberation of Belgium and the Nether-
lands, the Battle of the Atlantic, Victory in Europe Day and Victory
over Japan Day. We will also celebrate the 70th anniversary of the
Korean War and the 105th anniversary of the Second Battle of
Ypres in the First World War.

[English]

All of these activities serve to strengthen the connection of our
distinguished veterans to the youth of Canada, reinforcing the tradi-
tion of service in our nation.

Members of the committee, that is a wave-top view of the opera-
tions of Veterans Affairs Canada. We face rapidly increasing re-
quests for our services and programs. We've made strides in im-
proving those services and delivering them, yet there's still so much
work to be done. I am confident, however, that our folks will exer-
cise this noble responsibility with care, compassion and respect.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much, sir.
We are going to get started right away with questions.

First up we have MP Wagantall.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall (Yorkton—Melville, CPC): Thank
you, Chair.

Good morning. Thank you for being here.

Deputy Minister, we're dealing with a backlog question here. As
I'm sure you've heard lately, there is a great deal of concern in the
veterans community in regard to support and treatments for mental
health for family members. I brought this up in December in ques-
tion period, and the minister assured me that there's no change in
policy and everything would continue. Now we understand that
there is a change in interpretation in that policy, and there's a sense
out there that there are changes that are impacting veterans.

I know of a specific instance where the doctor informed the
spouse that it was good she was here because her services would no
longer be available in the future. There's a great deal of angst about
this. The ombudsman has indicated that, in regard to psychological
care, this is something that we should be processing far faster than
we are.

Can you please clarify for us exactly what is happening with that
program? You indicate here that they will assist them in locating
other resources if they need long-term care. Is that a change? I ask
because she's been having treatment for a long time and now all of
a sudden her funding is in question.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Madam, thank you very much
for the question. Again, as I said in my comments, we have not
changed the policy over time, and the key over this entire period—
and I'm sure that you've scrutinized the policy—is that we are fo-
cused on the well-being of the veteran. Services to the family mem-
bers go back to the impact on supporting the well-being of the vet-
eran and moving forward. It's intended, in terms of a policy, to en-
sure that the veteran has support. We know that the family, in most
cases, is the immediate and enduring caregiver to the veteran and
that veterans have additional stress when their family is suffering.
We know that is all to be seen as one.

We have not changed the policy, but I'll just turn to my col-
league, Michel Doiron, who is the assistant deputy minister for ser-
vice delivery and is implementing this program with flexibility and
compassion.

Michel.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Thank you. Be very brief, please.
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Mr. Michel Doiron (Assistant Deputy Minister, Service Deliv-
ery, Department of Veterans Affairs): As the deputy said, we
have not changed policy. What we have done is looked at how the
policy was being applied across the board because, over time, there
have been some differences in the application. Nobody has been cut
off. When people say they've been cut off, nobody has been cut off.
Some individuals did receive information saying that we're giving
them an additional year and we'll be working with them to ensure
that either they stay in the program or, if they are no longer eligible
based on the criteria of the program, we will work with them to find
a mental health practitioner.

® (0905)
Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Have the criteria changed?

Mr. Michel Doiron: The criteria have not changed.

It's just that we had some individuals who may have been a bit
more open in certain cases—

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Okay.

Mr. Michel Doiron: —that brought us outside the realm of the
policy.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: This is what [ heard as well in regard
to the caregiver allowance. There are people who lost that service,
and it was explained that they didn't meet the criteria, and they
were cleaning this up. That's kind of the same approach that is be-
ing taken here, yea or nay?

Mr. Michel Doiron: I don't like the term “cleaning up”, but what
we're doing is ensuring consistency of the interpretation. When it's
coast to coast to coast, there's always a bit of flexibility, and we
have an obligation to ensure that we are as consistent as possible,
understanding every individual is different—

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Exactly.

Mr. Michel Doiron: —and every one of their services is differ-
ent. It's hard when people compare themselves.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Thank you, I appreciate that.

It says here as well that incomplete applications are not consid-
ered to be part of that backlog. How many incomplete applications
exist at this point in time?

Mr. Rick Christopher (Director General, Centralized Opera-
tions, Department of Veterans Affairs): We have about 20,000
applications where we don't have enough information to move
ahead with the decision. There are any number of reasons that
might be. One of the primary reasons is that people do not complete
the application. They don't fill out—

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: 1 understand. The number is great.
Thank you.

Prior to the 2015 election, the Conservative government put
funding in to add another 400 case managers. The Liberal govern-
ment came into power and that funding was still there to be used.
Have 400 case managers been hired in relation to that funding that
was available?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: The answer to the question is
yes.

We have seen over time.... I still remember poor Michel. When I
asked him in 2015 to do a projection of how many case-managed
veterans we would have by about 2019-20, he said it would be
about 9,700 case-managed veterans. Right now we have in excess
of 13,000 case-managed veterans.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: How many more have been hired?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: We've been able to hire addi-
tional.... He might have the number on the tip of his tongue, but
again, we are working hard to try to attain—

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: How many have been hired? How
many additional, above the 400?

Mr. Michel Doiron: We've hired close to about 600 or 700 case
managers—

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Are they full time?

Mr. Michel Doiron: Yes, my case managers are full time, those
who want to work full time.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: How many are?

Mr. Michel Doiron: We do have people who prefer to work four
days a week, but we look at it as full-time equivalent, FTEs.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Part time would be four days a week.

Mr. Michel Doiron: It depends on the individual. We have a
flexible workforce, but when I report the number of employees, it's
full-time equivalent, so it's equivalent to five days. One full-time
equivalent may be two warm bodies—I hate saying it that way; it
sounds cold—but we work with full-time equivalents.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Okay.

Is my time up?

The Chair: Continue very briefly, if you can.
Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: That's fine.

The Chair: Thank you.

Sean Casey, please.

Mr. Sean Casey (Charlottetown, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man.

Good morning folks and thanks for being here. I wish you in all
sincerity great luck in getting back to Charlottetown for those of
you who are travelling back. My reasons are partly selfish because
I'm going to be trying to get there as well.

I want to start with a bit of history. Everyone acknowledges that
having a backlog is not a desirable situation. We all acknowledge
that you're working hard to resolve it. The ombudsman has shone
quite a light on it.

I know what the morale of the department was, and I know what
the situation was for the people who were serving veterans through
the deficit reduction action plan. Can someone give me a bit of his-
tory on what the backlog looked like coming out of the deficit re-
duction action plan? What has been the progress, or lack of, since
then?

I know that the ombudsman went back so far. I'm asking you to
go back a little further.
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Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I'll start off and then I'll ask
Rick Christopher, who commands, to use that term.... He is the di-
rector of our central operations division. He basically has a battal-
ion's worth of adjudicators under his command moving this for-
ward. There are a number of veterans as part of his organization.

I gave a speech about this in Toronto the other night at the Royal
Canadian Military Institute. As I tell the story of where we were in
2014-15 when I arrived, we had a bit of a perfect storm. We had the
troops coming home from Afghanistan. We still had troops releas-
ing from Bosnia and Kosovo and from other missions like Rwanda,
Somalia and so on. For the first time, we really saw the social un-
derstanding of mental health injuries. For the first time, people who
had been reluctant to come forward because of stigma started to
come forward. It was not only Afghan veterans, but World War I1
veterans coming in for the first time. At the same time, the depart-
ment was reduced in the order of 35% to 40%, depending on where
you were in budget and people. All of these young folks were com-
ing out of the military and at the same time the shortcomings of the
new veterans charter were recognized by the ombudsman and oth-
ers. That's why we had kind of a perfect storm. The applications
started coming in faster and faster.

I still remember when I started that we would get in the order of
about 35,000 claims a year. We're north of 60,000 claims now. Back
in 2015, Rick Christopher's folks would try to get at least 2,500 de-
cisions a month. We're north of 5,000 decisions a month. We used
to produce out the door about $5 million a day in disability claims.
We're in the order of $10 million to $15 million a day in disability
claims. I say that to give you an understanding of the volume we're
dealing with.

Mr. Sean Casey: This is a bad time to cut staff.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Also, from the moment we de-
cide we're going to hire someone, we need to get cabinet and Trea-
sury Board approvals. Then Michel and his team have to find these
folks down east or across the country. Then for the first time there's
a training program. Again, this didn't exist in 2015. We go through
a training program so people have the tools to understand what
we're dealing with and improve those tools.

I'll turn it over to Rick Christopher.

Mr. Rick Christopher: As the deputy said, we've had an incred-
ible increase in the number of applications. Hiring new people
takes a long time, just as the hiring process in the public service can
be lengthy at times. It take a long time to find the people in certain
areas depending on the labour market. Some of these jobs require
very specific skills, such as nursing. Then, as the deputy mentioned,
we take time training them.

From the time the decision to hire is made through to the staffing
and training can sometimes take most of a year to get people up and
running and see an impact. I should underline that just throwing hu-
man resources at this is not the only answer. One of the things that
having these resources has allowed us to do is deal with the influx.
At the same time we will look at how we're going to change the
way we do things.

Over the past few years we've been doing a number of things.
Some of it changes the process, . Some of it is using technology.

One of the things we noticed in the department is that a lot of time
is spent in the hand-offs, so we've reduced the number of hand-offs,
and got the people on the same team who have the expertise to
make those decisions quickly.

Some of the other things we're doing are around technology, such
as using artificial intelligence to identify the audiograms in some of
these files. It's a very specific kind of document, and we can use
technology to identify them, so staff don't have to search the files.
We are at the very early stages of this.

We use links to get some of the information we need—Ilinks into
the Canadian Forces health information system, where we have
limited access—to take a look at the kind of medical information
we need to make these decisions.

A number of these initiatives are under way. If we did not have
these kinds of resources, the number of people waiting over the 16
weeks would be much higher.

The Chair: Thank you.

MP Desilets is up next.
® (0915)
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets (Riviére-des-Mille-fles, BQ): Good morning
to all of you.

Thank you very much for being here today.

My question is about the 20,000 pending claims. Can you tell us
what types of claims are pending and how long they've been pend-
ing?

If I understand correctly, the claimant is at fault, shall we say, be-
cause their application isn't complete. From the time a claim is
made, how long, on average, does it take to satisfy your criteria?
Does it take a year? A month?

I have a follow-up question. What can be done or what exactly is
being done to prevent this? Is it a matter of providing clearer infor-
mation or changing the website?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Thank you for your question.

I'm going to let Mr. Doiron answer that.

Mr. Michel Doiron: Thank you for your question.

The time frame depends on the person. Sometimes, we are wait-
ing on medical information. For instance, a person might submit
their claim and then go to Florida for six months. If they don't have
anyone checking their mail, the claim is held up for six months.
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Another thing that can delay the processing of a claim is a veter-
an's medical or service records. In those cases, we are quite proac-
tive about getting the issue resolved. The problem is usually out of
the veteran's control. We also have people who forgot that they sub-
mitted a claim and never got back to us.

What's more, some people have brown envelope syndrome,
meaning, they don't like to open mail from the Government of
Canada. Oftentimes, that affects veterans struggling with mental
health issues. It's about more than being worried about having to
pay a bill; they have real fears. Our staff try to help those people.

We strongly encourage veterans to apply through My VAC Ac-
count. I'll use this opportunity to promote our online system. Ap-
proximately 60% of claims come in through the online system,
which doesn't accept incomplete claims. Essentially, the purpose is
to speed up service delivery. The more automated the system, the
quicker the turnaround for services. The back-end application still
needs a lot of work, though, but the front-end application works
quite well, and it's really helping. I should point out that it's now
much easier to apply, so of course, the number of claims has gone
up. The easier it is to apply, the more people who do. That's good,
because it's what we want. The system helps us reduce the number
of incomplete claims.

We also have people who don't sign their claims. It may seem
trivial, but if the claim isn't signed, we have to call the person. If
they don't answer, it can become a vicious circle. Naturally, when
they provide the missing information, their claim goes back into the
system, in the same spot in the queue. The system is based on the
first-in, first-out principle.

I can't give you an exact processing time frame, because each
case is different. We have people who spend their winters in Florida
or elsewhere—veterans have a good pension, after all. When they
come back to Canada in May, they call us to inquire about their
claim. Meanwhile, we've been waiting for additional information
for the past six months.

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: You have two minutes.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: What more can be done?

Given how old some veterans are, could the online system be
making things harder?

Mr. Michel Doiron: It's possible, but I must say the system is
making things easier.

Mr. Christopher hasn't talked about everything we're doing, but
we are reviewing each of our documents, given how complex they
are. They aren't always that clear. My father is an older veteran, and
when my brother called me to explain to him what information he
was being asked to provide, I wasn't so sure, myself. It's not always
obvious.

The idea behind the online system is to streamline the process,
and we are trying to streamline the forms. Keep in mind these are
disability benefit claims, so we need a medical diagnosis and spe-

cific information. I don't want to generalize, because we also have
young veterans with mental health issues or other health problems
who aren't comfortable with computers either. It's not about age. It
depends on each person's situation.

What we are trying to do with My VAC Account is make the
claims process easier. You may be familiar with a popular software
that helps with income tax returns, so you'll appreciate the nick-
name people in the department have given the system, “turbo vet”.
It's easy. Users are asked whether they have worked and whether
they have a T4, for instance, and they click “yes”or “no”. They
choose from drop-down menus as well. Clearly, veterans have to
provide us with their history and medical records. Some informa-
tion is necessary.

It works quite well for programs like the education and training
benefit. The person is asked to confirm their service number, and if
they confirm that it is indeed their number, the system already
knows how long the person was in the Canadian Forces, and their
claim can be approved within hours. The process isn't as quick or as
straightforward for the disability benefit program.

® (0920)
[English]

The Chair: Thank you very much.

MP Blaney, please.

Ms. Rachel Blaney (North Island—Powell River, NDP):
Thank you for being here today.

I appreciate your talking to us about this really important issue of
how many veterans are waiting. My first question goes back to hu-
man resources.

When the Conservatives were in power there was a decrease in
the number of people working at Veterans Affairs. With the great
number of people who are applying now, and with the backlogs,
how close are you to getting back to the original numbers before
the cuts that came at that time? Does anyone know that?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I'm not sure we have a com-
parator back to that time.

Go ahead, Sara. Let's give you some air time.

Ms. Sara Lantz (Acting/Assistant Deputy Minister, Chief Fi-
nancial Officer and Corporate Services, Department of Veter-
ans Affairs): As of 2018-19, our full-time equivalents were close
to 2,900, which is more than prior to 2014-15 when the cut was,
which was about 2,300. Prior to the deficit reduction action plans
they were about 2,900. We are back up to that level as of last year.

We have done two years of hiring. During last year, we had most
of the hiring in place by the end of the year, so this year we are
more than 3,000. I think it's around 3,200.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: That helps me. Thank you.
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Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: May I also add, however, that
especially in field operations, but even on the policy and the corpo-
rate side attrition in the field is generally 12%. Not only do we have
to augment with additional hires to meet the demand, because more
case-managed veterans require case managers and more files com-
ing in require adjudicators, but at the same time, this is a social file
and this file is tough.

We have tried to hire more veterans. I have tried to set a goal of
hiring 10% veterans. I think the last time I looked, we were at 8%
and trying to hire more veterans. At the same time, folks are fragile.
We have occupational therapists, social workers and psychologists.
This is tough business.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: 1 only have six minutes, so I apologize,
General. I certainly don't want to be in trouble with you.

According to the wait times tool on the department's website, we
know as of the 19th of this month that the disability claim benefit
response time for hearing loss, for example, was 17 weeks, or about
four months. For post-traumatic stress disorder, a single condition,
it is 33 weeks, which is about eight months. Multiple conditions are
about nine months. It just shows you how long people are waiting.
That is your tool.

We also know that the veterans ombudsperson has stated that the
most frequent complaints in his office are issues around wait times
and backlog. One thing he has talked about is that clear action plan.

Can you tell us what the clear action plan is? I also want to note
that the longer average turnaround times are for the francophone
and women claimants. I would like to know why that is the case.

I heard as well that lack of communication is a challenge, partic-
ularly with respect to the process of prioritizing cases. What is the
triage model when people come in and make claims, so that you
can assess where the urgency is? If you have these huge backlogs, 1
certainly hope the people with the biggest concerns that are most
urgent would be moved to the top of the list, while understanding
that we need something to change. I don't want any of our veterans
at the bottom of the list.

That's a big question, but I have a limited amount of time and |
want you to give me a perfect answer, so good luck with that.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: In terms of the vision.... Poor
Michel and his team. I said to them that I want to try to meet the
best standards of what Canadians have across the board. Whether
that is within provinces or how folks do their taxes, how quickly
can we turn around a decision? That's why I came up with the term
“turbo vet”, where veterans can go on and get an answer right
away.

In terms of the education training benefit or career transition ser-
vices, as Michel indicated, we are turning around decisions in—
Ms. Rachel Blaney: They're not. The numbers are telling us that
it's—
® (0925)

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: For the education and training
benefit and career transition service—

Ms. Rachel Blaney: Okay, but I'm really needing to talk about
this. It's four months if you have hearing loss and eight months for
post-traumatic stress. I need to understand that.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: We're trying to do process re-
newal and to ask what we stop doing to make it better, and also,
how we can digitize.

Thirty-seven per cent of all of our claims are hearing and tinni-
tus. We're trying to figure out how we digitize that, from the audio-
gram right into the system. Can we make that digital and handle
that 37%, so it's all done electronically to the degree that we can,
mindful that some veterans don't want to go digital?

Ms. Rachel Blaney: I represent a rural and remote community.
Many communities don't even have Internet, so it may be a chal-
lenge for them.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: We will maintain paper, read
analog applications. We have 100-year-old veterans with laptops
and iPads—you sent me notes—and we have 20-year-olds who
don't want to touch technology. We need to show love and compas-
sion to all of them.

1 think with that introduction, I'll hand it over to Michel.

Mr. Michel Doiron: You're right. I've been here and talked about
this before. You all know I'm quite frustrated about this. The vol-
umes have gone through the roof, but it's not an excuse. How can
we do it? As I've said to this committee before, adding people is
one solution but it's not the solution.

We're working hard on maximizing the use of the My VAC Ac-
count and technology. We've brought in new electronic tools. We
currently have an innovation hub looking at our process. The first
one we're looking at is hearing and tinnitus. They need an audio-
gram. How can you go from an audiogram, have the system read
the audiogram, equate that to a level of disability and then question
whether it's related to your service or not? We're exploring using Al
to help us in that area. If we could get there, as the deputy said,
that's 37%. You'll never get fully 37%—Tlet's not kid ourselves—but
probably 25% —Ilet's be reasonable—could be automatic. Then you
take your resources and you reinvest them in the other areas of your
business.

We're not ignoring the other areas of the business, because for
me, mental health is extremely important. How do we facilitate
that? Especially we're approving mental health at about 97% on
first applications. How can we remove all the barriers and make
them faster?

I have to stop because my time is up.

The Chair: Thank you.



8 ACVA-03

February 27, 2020

I feel I keep having to cut you off, and you're adding so much.
Mr. Michel Doiron: I'm used to being cut off, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: I apologize, but I let you go on a little longer.

That ends round one, so we're going into the second round.

MP Ruft is up first for five minutes.

Mr. Alex Ruff (Bruce—Grey—Owen Sound, CPC): First,
thanks for coming in today. Obviously, it's always good to see you,
General Natynczyk.

This is the veterans affairs committee so I'd like to point out that
today is the 120th anniversary of the Battle of Paardeberg, which
was the first time we deployed Canadian troops overseas, and my
alma mater regiment, the RCR was recognized. We'll talk about that
a little later today when I make a statement in the House.

Going back to some of the questions here, you talked about the
desire to hire more veterans. Without a doubt, that's one of the com-
plaints I've been hearing, “It would be a lot better if I were talking
to somebody who understood what my service meant and what the
challenges are.” What are you doing to get that number up? Your
aspiration of 10%, sir, is great. I'd like you to drive it north of 50%
if you could, because when people understand it, I think that would
speed up the whole process. It would also solve your training chal-
lenge because they'd need to be trained on the system, but they'd
understand the type of questions being asked.

My second question may be a little more difficult. It's tied to
some of the complaints I've been getting. I was shocked at the wait
times for a number of currently serving personnel, the number of
them and how long it's taking for them to be processed because
they have a little more access and availability. Are the files of those
currently serving in the Canadian Armed Forces being treated or
processed any differently from those who are retired? Tied to that
as well, because I'm getting some interesting things and I don't have
anything I can put a name to, are the files of any of the people who
have a sexual misconduct class action suit against the DND being
treated any differently? I've been getting indications that maybe
they are.

With the delay issue, you talk about the transfer of medical files
and the lack of signatures. Has there been a look at the process to
do a quick file review, something that can be done almost instanta-
neously, whether it's electronically or otherwise? They could go
through the file and they could get that first response so they're not
waiting 16 weeks only to be told they forgot to sign the paperwork.

You talked about the challenge of getting the medical files from
the Canadian Armed Forces. What's being done to resolve that so
those files are coming in very quickly?

My final point is, we're getting indications a lot of the files are
being denied on the first go-around, yet when they're going to the
Veterans Review and Appeal Board, over 50% of them —that stat
may not be 100% accurate; I'd have to pull it out—are being ap-
proved based on the adjudication or the first assessment of the
claim. We need to fix that, I think, so we're not delaying people for
so long just to have the wrong decision. I could understand if you
got an 80% batting average of the claims being approved and ev-
erybody's happy, not that you're going to make everybody happy,

but you have a large number of them appealing it and the decision
is the policy was wrongly applied.

Those are a lot of questions. Do your best, please.

® (0930)

The Chair: You have a minute and a half.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: In a minute and a half, yes,
yes, no and no.

On veteran hiring, not every veteran makes a great social worker.
We have to be very careful, because sometimes bringing folks in
triggers.... At the same time, as one of my kids going through basic
training told me, “Hey, Dad, that sergeant major is old school”, and
he may not make the best social worker. We have to be very cau-
tious how we bring people in. Do they have the right personality?

When I go to my office in Trenton, Ontario, a third of the staff
are veterans, a third of the staff are military spouses, and a third are
career public servants who generally have a link to someone who
has served. If I go to the atrium in Charlottetown and ask who has a
family member who has been in the military, hands are almost
unanimously up.

It's finding the right balance across the board. You need folks
who are social workers, but at the same time, we do want to bring
in more veterans, the right veterans, across the board.

Second, on the currently serving, the challenge of those currently
serving is who has a full diagnosis. Sometimes what happens is
someone gets hurt in morning PT or on an exercise, goes in, gets a
chit, takes the old Tylenol or Motrin, and puts in a claim. We don't
have a diagnosis yet. The injury is not fully developed or enduring,
and yet we have a claim.

Twenty-five per cent of all the claims Michel is dealing with are
from currently serving Canadian Armed Forces members, yet the
problem frequently—and we are working with the Canadian Armed
Forces and the surgeon general on this—is that often there isn't a
diagnosis because the injury has not matured to that point yet.

We don't know about temporary category and permanent catego-
ry until we know that the injury is enduring. That's one of the prob-
lems we're having. We're trying to deal with the Canadian Armed
Forces on that by asking, “What's the gateway to put in a claim?”
Often, folks don't even want to come forward with an injury be-
cause they might be pulled off a course.
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In terms of sexual class actions, we are not treating those files
any differently. In fact, we're putting additional attention....

Rick.

Mr. Rick Christopher: There have been a few class action law-
suits in the past. As part of the settlements.... If you think about
LGBTQ2, Veterans Affairs had to adjudicate them first before they
could get something out of the settlement. What we did in that case
was we set up a dedicated team to do these ones quickly.

I would expect in other situations, depending on the way the set-
tlement is structured, that we would do the same thing.

The Chair: Thank you. I think there may have been a few more
questions there, but maybe we can get to those in subsequent
rounds.

MP Fillmore.
® (0935)

Mr. Andy Fillmore (Halifax, Lib.): Walt, it's great to see you
again. Thank you to you and your team for being here today. It's
much appreciated.

As you know, Walt, I represent Halifax. Not only are we home to
the east coast navy, Sth Canadian Division, the Mighty Maroon Ma-
chine, but across the harbour is 12 Wing Shearwater. I think we
have in the Halifax area among the highest, if not the highest, con-
centration of veterans living anywhere in the country. This is a very
important issue to me and veterans not just in Halifax but across the
country.

First of all, I want to say thank you for your clarification with
your water line analogy around the budget surplus at the end of the
year. There have been some cynical efforts to frame that as a fail-
ure. Of course, any one of us would run our household accounts in
the same way. To hear that those surplus monies, thin though they
are, are turned back into the budget the following year is a good
clarification.

I want to go after another cynical line of attack, which is that the
backlogs are a sign of a failure. I believe that any successful organi-
zation or service is in demand. If there were no one lined up at the
door, I would be more worried that perhaps VAC wasn't providing
the services that are needed. I want to test that attempt to frame the
backlog as a failure.

You've given us some metrics already around budget, hiring and
all that, but you see where I'm going with this. I wonder if you
could paint a picture, drawing on whatever programs or services
you provide, whether they are the family resource centres, pro-
grams to transition to post-service life, or any of the suite, to help
explain the popularity of the programs now. That could help ex-
plain why you're so much more busy and why you're so much more
successful and that accounts for the increased demand.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Can I touch on the budget
again?

I know my chief financial officer will start to quiver here. We get
the money we require for veterans, and we're never sure how many
veterans will present. The one variable we don't control is the num-
ber of veterans who ask for service. We start off each financial year

based on the best evidence and the best rigour, projecting how
many might be in long-term care, how many might need physio-
therapy and so on. But we're not absolutely sure.

Last year in particular, with the pension for life, a new program,
we were not sure how many folks would go for the lump sum ver-
sus the monthly. We could project it based on a best financial deci-
sion, but we just didn't know. The reality is, as we kicked off the
last financial year, we were in the area of $4.1 billion to $4.2 bil-
lion. In the first quarter, we saw a lot more veterans coming for-
ward, and a lot more veterans than projected going for the lump
sum. Sara and her team had to put in a request for over $900 mil-
lion additional funding in a year. Because it's a statutory obligation,
there is no discretion. The government gave us that funding, and we
are going through that at a rapid rate to get more decisions out the
door.

Through the discussion about the new programming over the
past few years, mindful that we have implemented, operationalized,
over $10 billion of new programming.... If you recall, two years
ago | was here with minister O'Regan. In 2018, we did 45 town
halls coast to coast, five regional summits and a national summit.
We went to social media to get out the message about all these ex-
traordinary programs. People listened, and I was absolutely thrilled
to see more people applying.

In 2015, for example, the career transition services we had at that
time.... I still remember one of the first briefings I got from the
chief financial officer saying we had to reduce the career transition
services from $300,000 to $50,000. I asked why would we do that.
He said that we only had 13 people apply. This year we're spending
a lot of money on career transition services, because people are
coming forward and using it to get career counselling and to find a
civilian job where they want to settle.

I was absolutely thrilled with the education and training benefit.
Here is the first time since World War II that we're implementing a
program for folks who retired healthy, not a program only for medi-
cally releasing, because medically releasing today, even before this
program, could access up to $78,500 for vocational rehabilitation. I
have met ordinary seamen, retired, going through a Ph.D. in psy-
chology on vocational rehab in Vancouver. Now they have the edu-
cation and training benefit, and literally hundreds of veterans are
coming forward.

We are also incentivizing people to stay in the military. That's
why we set up the six-year period and the 12-year period.

® (0940)
Mr. Andy Fillmore: Thank you very much.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: [ was on a roll here.
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All that is bringing more veterans through the door.
The Chair: Next is MP Lloyd, please, for five minutes.

Mr. Dane Lloyd (Sturgeon River—Parkland, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Doiron, you said earlier in answer to my colleague Cathay
Wagantall's question that not a single person has been cut off from
the family mental health program. Can you clarify? Is that what you
said?

Mr. Michel Doiron: I may have said it that way, but maybe I
want to clarify that, because some people have been refused. We
need to realize that we don't approve every condition. It has to be
linked to the veteran, to the veteran's condition, and to help the vet-
eran get better. It can't be in their own right. This is in the legisla-
tion. We may have a little flexibility on what that means, related to
the veteran. We have refused some, and we will always refuse
some.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: I accept that. Were the cases which you did
refuse previously approved, or was this for new applications for
new care?

Mr. Michel Doiron: I would have to confirm that. I'm not 100%
sure.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: They might have been receiving care previous-
ly under Veterans Affairs, but then they ceased to receive...l think
would be the definition of cut off.

Mr. Michel Doiron: It is possible, but we need to be clear. It
may have been for a new condition that was not related to the pre-
vious condition. As an example, if you're going to marriage coun-
selling with a veteran, we would support you with no issue, but you
come back for another condition that may not be related to the vet-
eran's issue. Although you were approved for that—I'm using mar-
riage counselling but there are a few other ones—if you came back
for that you may think and the individual may think they were cut
off and why can't they continue doing it. This new condition is ei-
ther not related to the veteran's condition or may be something in
your own right, or may be in the right of your child, for example, a
child who has autism.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: In the definition of the purpose of the program,
it's not necessarily to treat the family member. It's to treat the fami-
ly member for the benefit of the veteran. If the family member is
undergoing a great deal of mental stress because they have been cut
off, maybe it is a new condition, but that creates stress for the veter-
an. Wouldn't you agree?

Mr. Michel Doiron: I would agree.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Then wouldn't it be necessary to continue the
program in order to help benefit the veteran?

Mr. Michel Doiron: Not necessarily, because there is legislation
that dictates how far I can go, and our resources for that are based
on that legislation. My default is always care, compassion and re-
spect. In service delivery, my colleague in policy sometimes gives
me a hard time because I tend to want to push that as far as I can,
because we need to remember that the people who work on the
front line in service delivery deal with the veteran day in day out.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Yes. I'm sorry to cut you off. Thank you. I ap-
preciate that clarification.

I have a quick question. Excluding the impact of the transfer of
employees from Ste. Anne's Hospital in 2016-17, what were the re-
ductions in front-line staff for Veterans Affairs? About 750 people
were transferred to a provincial jurisdiction, which would indicate
statistically that there was a huge reduction in Veterans Affairs offi-
cials, but excluding that impact, were there any reductions?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: 1 would say that the number I
was briefed on was in the order of 35%. Parking Ste. Anne's to the
side, Charlottetown alone went from 2,000 to about 1,100 employ-
ees.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Are they front-line disability staff?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: They are disability folks and
some in corporate services. I would have to triage it all, but they
were also in the field. There is a significant reduction concurrent
with increasing demand and more veterans coming forward.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: In what time period was that, sir?
Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: That was from 2012 to 2014.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Thank you for the clarification.

The third question I want to ask is a little more general. There are
other jurisdictions, Australia, United States and Great Britain, that
have sent people to Afghanistan. What are we learning from these
jurisdictions on how we can make our Veterans Affairs programs
better?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Thanks very much for that
question.

Again, my associates and I were at a Five Eyes veterans affairs
conference with the Australians who hosted. This year it's with the
Americans.

We are constantly looking for best practices across the board.
The Australians benchmarked how the Five Eyes were doing. One
of our allied countries said, “Please don't tell our veterans what
Canada is doing.” Again, it will never be perfect.

® (0945)
Mr. Dane Lloyd: What are some examples you could give?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: The veterans independence
program is an example. If you have an injury as a result of service
and you're getting more and more frail, we will pay support to you
to try to keep you at home. We know that you will be healthier at
home longer before you have to go into a long-term care facility
like the Perley and Rideau, the George Derby or Camp Hill. You
will be healthier if you stay at home, so we're providing for nursing
support in the home, the clinical beds, meals on wheels, landscap-
ing and housecleaning. Our allies don't do that. They are coming to
look at Canada to see what's going on.



February 27, 2020

ACVA-03 11

We just had the Australians come to Charlottetown and say, “Tell
us about the Bureau of Pensions Advocates.” The fact is that we're
paying a platoon of lawyers to make sure that the veteran's entire
circumstance is understood before we render the final decisions and
appeals. We're the only outfit in the world with a Bureau of Pen-
sions Advocates.

There are a lot of things like that. In fact, we can share with you
the little chart that the Australians came up with. We are also look-
ing at what they are doing. They have done things like, say an in-
fantryman has done so many years in the infantry and has had so
many jumps. Therefore, it's ankles, knees, hips, back, shoulders....
They are applying a presumptive model to that.

We're saying we want to do that. We're moving down that path.
Mr. Dane Lloyd: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

MP Samson, please.

Mr. Darrell Samson (Sackville—Preston—Chezzetcook,
Lib.): Thank you for being here today. We appreciate it. I'm glad
you came in a couple of days earlier, because it would have been
challenging this morning or late last night. It's nice to see all of you
here today.

Quickly on the comparison, Canada is seen as one of the most
compassionate countries in the world to our service men and wom-
en. We did a comparative study here last year. I would invite mem-
bers to read that, because that can be a good stepping stone to some
further studies as we move forward.

The minister's mandate letter makes reference to addressing the
backlog. We talk about automatic approvals.

Can you expand on that for members? That's an important theme
that we should share with everyone today.

Thank you.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: As we look at that terminology
“automatic approvals”, it's almost a presumptive approach to in-
juries. It builds on what I mentioned a moment ago about what
some of our allies are doing. We generally know that if someone
has been in a certain trade doing a certain kind of deployment, they
could have injuries as a result of their service.

When I was at Comox recently at 442 Squadron with Minister
MacAulay, we were talking to about 20 search and rescue techni-
cians. We asked about the probability of a search and rescue techni-
cian getting injured. The answer is 100%.

We look at the evidence model when we consider a disability
claim to consider the circumstances of the service of the veteran. If
they are, say, in the artillery, they might have a hearing issue and so
on, so we're adapting the evidence model. Again, with the great
work done by the entire team on a policy standpoint, a service de-
livery standpoint, right now we're approving 97% of all claims on
post-traumatic stress disorder.

When we drill down on the 3% we're not approving, we find
there was no diagnosis or there was a pre-existing condition prior to
service in the Canadian Armed Forces, and in some cases the per-

son never served in the armed forces. We're getting to a virtual
100% on the automatic approval. In fact, in all cases of mental
health, we're approving 93%.

Back in 2014-15, we used to approve all musculoskeletal injuries
in the 60th percentile. Jump in here if I'm off track. Because we've
adapted the evidence model, we're now in the 80th percentile of ap-
provals with regard to musculoskeletal injuries. It goes to this
whole notion of moving down this path with regard to automatic
approvals.

I'll turn it over to Michel Doiron and Rick Christopher.

Mr. Michel Doiron: As the deputy mentioned, we're looking
very closely at what the Australians are doing. We don't call it auto-
matic approval. We call it more presumptive because with automat-
ic approval people think they're going to say they're hurt and we're
going to say yes. We do have to be a little careful because they need
a disability diagnosis. A doctor needs to say they have a disability,
a permanent condition, and they need to have served. We need to
confirm their service and that their injury is service-related to some
extent. That it's linked to service is easy, so that's why you'll notice
the deputy talks about presumptive.

I talk about presumptive as opposed to automatic, because in
people's mind if you say “automatic”, they say things like they
jumped out of a plane, hurt their knee and they should get a DA.
Yes, okay, we agree that it's service-related but to what extent? We
still need to make that determination.

We will not be spending a lot of time at the front end asking if
it's related to their service or not. It's very clear if they are a search
and rescue technician and come forward with a bad knee we
shouldn't be spending a lot of time trying to determine if that's ser-
vice-related or not. We should be spending the time on the level of
their injury, its complexity and then get it to you as fast as possible.
We want to get you in treatment, because the end game is how fast
we can get you in treatment.

We've been working closely and my policy friend is looking at
how you rework some of those sections in the legislation to ensure
that it's clear, that people understand it and we don't get in trouble.

® (0950)

Mr. Steven Harris (Assistant Deputy Minister, Strategic Poli-
cy and Commemoration, Department of Veterans Affairs): As
part of the work we're doing, we are looking at what changes would
be required to our legislation. Our legislation regulations compel us
to do certain work as we adjudicate claims. We're trying to make
sure that's as streamlined as possible, recognizing there may be op-
portunities for this kind of presumptive approach.
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Also, with the work we're doing, related to the last question on
international research and what we can learn from our allies in how
they're approaching it, respecting the fact that there are different
federal, provincial and territorial set-ups for our allies to be able to
work through that model, my research shop is looking through our
own data to try to better understand what leads to other things. If
we have a sense of one injury leading to another, and there can be
work to do to help prevent that by providing some upfront interven-
tion, we want to try to do that too. That's another opportunity to
move that forward through research.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: May I add to that?
The Chair: Very briefly, sir.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: We're trying to bundle ser-
vices. I'll use a tragic example. If someone has ALS, we know the
outcome and we're bundling the services so if they come forward
with a diagnosis, we automatically approve everything in one pack-
age deal to make it easier and accelerate decision-making right to
the end.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Darrell Samson: Thank you.

The Chair: MP Desilets, please.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: I'm going to come back to the matter of pro-
cessing times and the ombudsman's findings. According to the re-
port, the most common reason veterans complained was the amount
of time it took to process their claims.

Earlier, we were talking about the online system. Do your sys-
tems communicate with one another, or are they connected some-
how? Is there any communication at the claims level? That's the
first part of my question, which shouldn't be too difficult to answer.

Mr. Michel Doiron: I'm not sure I know what you mean by
communicate or connected.

Our systems communicate with one another, but they certainly
don't communicate with those of the Canadian Forces. They aren't
integrated because the technologies aren't the same. We have sys-
tems that date back to the 1970s, and we've just launched ones that
were created in 2019. Some technologies are based on the program-
ming languages COBOL and Fortran, which those of us who are
older, like myself, used in university. Other technologies are web-
or cloud-based, and that's a whole other ball game.

However, to reduce the time it takes to receive veterans' files, we
have an agreement with the Canadian Forces, which grants us ac-
cess to their health information system. Now, instead of requesting
the transfer of a veteran's medical records, our adjudication office
can simply look at them online. We still don't have the capability to
transfer the file to our system, but I'm not ruling out the possibility
that we could at some point.

® (0955)

Mr. Luc Desilets: From what I gather, then, efforts are being
made to connect or pool the databases.

Mr. Michel Doiron: That's correct. There is something else I
should clarify, though. Some databases can't be shared because of
the Access to Information Act. The person's privacy always comes

first, and in some cases, they have to provide consent so that we
can access their records.

Mr. Luc Desilets: Once you have that consent, can you obtain
any medical records you want?

Mr. Michel Doiron: Yes, we can, for as long as the individual
authorizes us to do so.

Mr. Luc Desilets: Last week, 1 was at the Veterans Appeal and
Review Board, and what I saw really struck me. The same person
was filing different complaints or, rather, different applications for
review. As I listened to him, it sounded as though he had been
asked to submit the same report umpteen times. I have a problem
with that. Logically, things should be a wee bit more advanced than
that.

You answered my initial question quite well. However, it's diffi-
cult for a veteran who has experienced trauma and is suffering from
post-traumatic stress to return to the country and have to sit down
and prepare a claim. I know there are people in your department
and in community centres who can help with that, but wouldn't in-
tegrating the systems save these people some trouble?

[English]

The Chair: Very briefly. I did not mention when I called you up
that this round is only two and a half minutes, so please be very
brief.

[Translation]

Mr. Michel Doiron: I agree with you. We try to keep that from
happening. If the person has submitted their medical records once,
we shouldn't be asking for them again, unless the person is still on
active duty and their situation has changed.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you.

MP Blaney, please.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: I have a million questions. I want to get a
little more clarity.

You talked about automatic approvals. I understand that doesn't
mean everybody is going to push a button and automatically get it,
but I'm wondering where you are. When I look at some of these
wait times, they're for hearing loss and some of these things that are
more basic, so I'm wondering where you are. When do you see that
being implemented? Do you have any sort of projections about the
impact on the wait times?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: We are reducing the wait times
with every phase of this digitization march that we've been on.
We're on phase five of digitization. When we did the disability top-
up back in 2016, we did it digitally. When we went to the earnings
loss benefit of 90%, we did it digitally. When we implemented the
career transition service education and training benefit, we did it
digitally.
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The big step was the pension for life. All of that was foreshad-
owed by the advent of the My VAC Account. Every one of these
steps has made us a little bit more efficient. That's why we're get-
ting up to 5,000 decisions a month.

The next step is huge. We've created an innovation hub in the de-
partment. We brought in the same kind of masterful talented people
who helped us land the pension for life in 15 months. We transi-
tioned 80,000 folks to a digital platform, and it was pretty quiet.

We're trying to take that same kind of group of talented individu-
als and say, "We want to leverage artificial intelligence. Let's try
hearing and tinnitus first and get to this turbo vet in order to accel-
erate decisions on the most simplified things”.

That team is working together now. Whether it be My VAC Ac-
count or disability, all of those things are done digitally to acceler-
ate decision-making. The next step is how we leverage Al. We're
working towards a pilot project in order to figure out how your au-
diogram is accepted digitally. Someone looks at it for approval and
it goes out the door.

That's the next step. That's 37% of our business. It may not be all
37%, but it's a lot of it.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: What is the projection? Do you have a time
frame at all at this point, or are you just going through the process?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Soon.
Ms. Rachel Blaney: “Soon” is your general time frame.

The other thing is that we heard from the veterans ombudsper-
son—and I did mention this before—that there's a longer than aver-
age turnaround time for francophone and women claimants. I'm just
wondering why.

The Chair: Please be brief.

Mr. Michel Doiron: On the francophones, that was true. Actual-
ly, in both cases, it was true. I'm going to rephrase that.

On the francophones, it's because we did not have enough bilin-
gual francophone adjudicators. I've studied in pre-med, and the
medical terminology in French is very different from medical ter-
minology.... Just being bilingual.... I'm not talking bad about any-
body who is bilingual, just to be clear.

® (1000)

Mr. Darrell Samson: I'm listening.

Mr. Michel Doiron: We need to be careful. We've hired some
French adjudicators, and that has now greatly improved.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: They're in Montreal.

Mr. Michel Doiron: We've hired them in Montreal and franco-
phone communities.

In the case of women, their cases are usually a little more com-
plex. We're still digging into that. I was briefed on it this week. Ini-
tially, I did not think there was really a difference, because I didn't
think we were comparing apples and apples because of the com-
plexity of women's issues versus a knee injury or an ankle injury
for a man.

However, Rick's team has now informed me that it is true, and so
we're looking.... Eleven per cent of our claimants are women. We're

looking at how we can make sure there is no discrepancy. [ will say
that we've greatly improved the timelines on the women's side, but
we still have work to do. We're still trying to fix some of that pro-
gram.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

MP Wagantall, you have five minutes.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a couple of questions in regard to these incomplete files.
You're dealing with around 20,000 files at this point in time that are
not included in your backlog numbers because of that incomplete
level.

In the first quarter of 2019, you indicated that there were 13,564
incomplete files. Then in the third quarter, it jumps to 18,330 files
that are incomplete. That's a 35% increase, all of a sudden, in in-
complete files.

Why suddenly is there such an increase in veterans' inability to
fill out their forms? What is it related to? Is it due to new or pre-
existing programs? Where are these incomplete forms coming
from?

Mr. Rick Christopher: I don't think it's due to any new or exist-
ing programs, without seeing the numbers and understanding each
file and doing an in-depth analysis. I want to make sure that what
we call incomplete is really where we're waiting for information.
These are not adjudication ready.

It might be that we're waiting on medical records or waiting on a
doctor to provide, at the provincial level, a filled-out medical ques-
tionnaire. It may be that the applicant did not sign the application.
There are a host of reasons.

Mr. Rick Christopher: We may process and examine a lot of
jumps. Someone made a great suggestion earlier that we should be
looking at them upon receipt and immediately reaching out.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: [ agree with that.

Mr. Rick Christopher: This might be the nature of those identi-
fied as incomplete. We might review them.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: The people who are dealing with these
all the time would probably see patterns. If there's a constant issue
with these people signing them, is there not some way you could
highlight, draw attention to that, so this is happening less? That's
just a suggestion.

I am glad to hear that the Liberals are now understanding esti-
mates and surplus funds. They had trouble with that concept when
they were in opposition, but it's good that we're all on that same
page now.

I have a question about the amount of money you determine you
need. It sounds as if you're working well within that parameter,
with very little having to be returned after the programs. If we in-
clude the ones that are not processing quickly, we're looking at
40,000 who are waiting on funding. Do you have an idea of how
much money is involved in that backlog?
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I know veterans are waiting in many cases. Will that then be
retro, paid back in their needs scenario or is it just that they qualify
when they finally get that whole file together? It's not unusual for
VAC when money is owed that there's an expectation it comes with
interest. Is interest provided when the fault is within VAC, that they
are not getting their programming processed quickly enough? Does
that make sense?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Let me seize the opportunity to
first compliment the Royal Canadian Legion and the Army, Navy
and Air Force Veterans, Dominion Command, who have service of-
ficers assisting. In the case of the Legion there are 1,200 branches
across the country. The service officers work with veterans and en-
sure that to the degree possible, they're filled out completely.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: I agree, but there's a huge backlog.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I'm just saying in terms of get-
ting all the documentation and the signatures, we train the Legion,
and Army, Navy and Air Force Veterans.

® (1005)
Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: There's a huge backlog of 20,000.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I'm just saying that in ensuring
the documentation to the degree possible is complete and as well to
nudge folks toward the My VAC Account because, again, My VAC
Account is set so only complete applications could go in. For the
costing, I'll turn to my colleague Michel.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Yes, just a number, do you have a
sense of how many are outstanding?

Mr. Michel Doiron: I don't have it in front of me, but yes, and
we work with the CFO in our estimates all the time.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Can we get that number?
Mr. Michel Doiron: Can we have an estimate?

Ms. Sara Lantz: It's difficult to give a number explicitly to the
backlog because we're not always exactly sure what is being ap-
plied for, what they're eligible for, what their compensation will be.
We do work very closely with the office of the chief actuary and so
we look at the norms to make a projection.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: You make that projection and that's in-
cluded.

Ms. Sara Lantz: We've looked at that recently and to understand
we'll watch the piloting they're undertaking so we'll know how
much more of the backlog we'll get cleaned up. That's part of it. Be-
fore we implement we must be sure we have secured the funding to
cover those veterans.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: That's great. Thank you.

I have another question in regard to hiring.
The Chair: Very briefly, please.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Where are most of the hires coming
from? Is it within the province of Prince Edward Island? A lot of
people are cascading out of work in western Canada in the social
services area and in all kinds of areas. How aggressively are you
reaching out to other areas of the country to get people involved?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: One of the most difficult areas
for us to hire is Alberta. We are trying to scoop, to poach; we're try-

ing to do everything to get enough case managers and other staff in
Alberta, as we are in other parts of the country.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Part of the problem there is they're
probably needed more than ever in that province right now.

The Chair: If it's less than 10 seconds, go ahead.

Mr. Michel Doiron: In the past, the province would steal from
us. Right now, we're stealing from Alberta. The reason is the salary
difference in Alberta. A social worker makes more than the feder-
als, probably the only province in the country, but with the econom-
ic situation in Alberta, some of these people are knocking on our
doors now.

The Chair: Marie-France Lalonde.
[Translation]

Mrs. Marie-France Lalonde (Orléans, Lib.): I'd like to thank
the witnesses for being here today.

I know this isn't entirely related to the backlog issue, but it could
have an effect. The minister's mandate letter refers to a partnership

[English]
to help our homeless veterans.

I am from Orleans. I represent a stronghold of veterans and mili-
tary personnel, and I'm very proud to be on this committee.

I wanted to give you an opportunity as we're looking at mental
health and support for families and our veterans. Access to housing
is very important. We worked very hard in Ottawa on one particular
case for 40 units. What's the future plan for this?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Thank you so much for the
question. When we think about supporting our veterans, we know
that often veterans will leave the armed forces and things will go
sideways.

I talked to one veteran who was in Vanier. The last thing a veter-
an gives up is the cellphone and, just before that, it's the pickup
truck. This veteran called in. He had been part of the Royal Canadi-
an Regiment. I called up the veteran, a corporal who did two tours
of Afghanistan, and asked him how he had landed up on the streets
of Vanier. He said, “Sir, I didn't want to tell anybody about my in-
juries because I didn't want the buds to know I was sick, so I didn't
do anything.” He got out voluntarily. He went out to Fort Mc-
Money—Fort McMurray—drove a big truck until the demons set
in, then got fired and is on the streets of Vanier.

In order to be able to pick up this veteran and ask how we can
provide a roof over that person's head, we now have a veteran
emergency fund. For the first time, we can spend money on sup-
porting a veteran even before we've proven eligibility. We can pick
them up from the front doorstep, put a roof over their head, put gro-
ceries on the table and say, “Figure out who you are.”
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Also, it's about working with the community. That's why I was
thrilled with the multi-faith centre on the old Rockcliffe base. It's an
investment of over $10 million to build 40 units where veterans
want to come together within this community, within the identity. It
puts a roof over their heads while they're going through addiction
treatment, mental health treatment or vocational rehabilitation and
moves them down that path.

Minister MacAulay and I were just in Calgary. Homes For
Heroes is exactly the same, recognizing that at Homes For Heroes
there is

® (1010)
[Translation)

an air force member from Saguenay
[English]

along with one veteran, a soldier, from Aurora, Ontario, and one
from Calgary, but there they are in Homes For Heroes now, with,
again, Veterans Affairs providing support through the well-being
fund for them from a former military police sergeant who is an ad-
diction counsellor. Our well-being fund is supporting that individu-
al, who is mentoring 15 veterans going through all of this treat-
ment.

It is a community effort, assisted by this veteran emergency fund,
the well-being fund, but also, as I mentioned in my comments, by
the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation's providing sup-
port to great initiatives like the multi-faith centre in order to give
veterans an opportunity to get off the street.

I would also say that of the tranche of well-being initiatives last
year, 12 went towards homelessness.

Over to you, Steven.
Mr. Steven Harris: It's actually 15, Deputy.
Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Fifteen. There you go.

Mr. Steven Harris: Those community organizations are working
directly with front-line staff at Veterans Affairs and also with front-
line staff in other community organizations to ensure a whole-of-
government and a cross-federal-provincial-territorial approach to
solving and ending veteran homelessness.

We've been able to sponsor things like VETS Canada. Many of
you would be familiar with their work of going out and finding,
identifying and helping homeless veterans. We've also done things
like helping the Mustard Seed, which the deputy referenced and is
helping the Homes For Heroes in Calgary by providing some
wraparound services in terms of both mental health support and
transitional support. It is helping them to get back on their feet in
order for them to be able to, when they transition into some sort of
stable housing, get other things arranged as well, whether those are
additional benefits from a provincial or federal level or job training
and other pieces along the way as well. The well-being fund has
been instrumental in being able to do that.

To the deputy's point, community is really key. We talk frequent-
ly with Tim Richter. Community-based solutions are often the best
ones for homelessness. We're engaged with our partners at the fed-
eral level of ESDC who have people in all of these areas. We have

point people in all of our offices across the country who are specifi-
cally engaged on the issue of veteran homelessness as well and who
work closely in those community-type settings.

The Chair: Thank you.

Briefly, please, sir.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Can I also highlight that some
veterans don't want to be found yet? There's this notion that we're
going to get everybody off the street. Some veterans aren't ready.
Some veterans don't want to be connected to their families yet. We
have to be respectful of that.

I remember the time that we did a foot patrol through the Ottawa
Mission, the Shepherds of Good Hope and the Salvation Army.
When we walked into the Shepherds of Good Hope, six veterans
went out the back door because they didn't want to be found. We
have to be very respectful.

A lot of veterans don't want to be in the snow in the winter. They
don't want to be in Manitoba—I'm a Winnipegger. They migrate to
Vancouver Island and camp out in the bush. We're looking for
them, with the Royal Canadian Legion and VETS Canada, so that
when they're ready they can come in. But when they come in, how
can we quickly put a roof over their heads? Again, there are great
places like the multi-faith centre or Cockrell House in Colwood on
Vancouver Island to assist those veterans in moving forward.

The Chair: Thank you so much.

MP Ruff, please.

Mr. Alex Ruff: I'll give you an opportunity to answer a few of
my first questions.

Specifically, you talked about the challenges with serving per-
sonnel, but just to clarify their process, once their file goes in, it's
treated no differently from that of any other vet who puts their ap-
plication in. Also, on the appeal process, so many are getting turned
over once they get into the appeal process. What are you doing to
fix that? Obviously something is being adjudicated incorrectly, you
know, if it goes to the appeal and they're saying that it was judged
incorrectly.

To go back to recruiting vets, can you explain at the tail end of
this, if you have time, what your process is and how you are cur-
rently going out to try to recruit more veterans into the department
itself?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: If I can, I'll do that last one
first. We have this guy we've hired. Brigadier-General (Retired)
Mike Pearson—

Mr. Alex Ruff: He's RCR. Trust me, I know him very well.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: He runs our veteran hiring unit.
He is the conduit and is working with the Public Service Commis-
sion in basically mentoring and informing HR staff across all gov-
ernment departments, but he is also running a team in order to in-
form veterans how to apply to the public service.
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Again, some folks don't want to go to Charlottetown. Some folks
may want to stay out in places like Kelowna or wherever in work-
ing with all government departments. Maybe they want to work for
Parks Canada or Corrections Canada or taxation across the country,
facilitated or assisted by the career transition service, so we get the
right fit. We also know that when a veteran accepts a civilian job,
they'll often accept the first job for security, and it may not be the
right fit. The research shows that an underemployed veteran is the
same as an unemployed veteran. They will move around, and that's
perfect. We're helping them through that staffing.

Going to your other questions, to my knowledge, we are not
treating the Canadian Armed Forces files differently.

I wonder if you could talk to that, Michel, but also to our online
transfer of medical files and service files, which is accelerating
things, and also to VRAB.

® (1015)

Mr. Michel Doiron: I'll let Rick answer the one on the still serv-
ing personnel. We are looking. We need to remember, though, that
while the person is still serving, although they are in the same pro-
cess, they are getting some of the best medical help in the world,
and they're getting their treatment. We have been talking with the
Canadian Armed Forces about a strategy surrounding those still
serving to ensure that for somebody who's not in the Canadian
Armed Forces, that is, not receiving any treatment, what we should
do with that. There are some conversations going on.

On the appeals, I will admit that I'm a little surprised, because in
my discussions with VRAB and our BPA director general....
They're actually counselling probably 50% of the people out be-
cause they got the right answer. Often, they don't like the percent-
age. Now, that is based on what the doctor tells us, so if the doctor
says there is a 15% derangement of the knee, we have the table of
disabilities that says a 15% derangement of the knee equates to
whatever it equates.

When they go in front of VRAB, VRAB has flexibilities that we
do not have. I've been there for a bit more than six years. They
were overturning a lot of our decisions, so what we started doing
six years ago was to look at why they were overturning our deci-
sions. We started bringing that into our decision-making. Where, at
that point, our first app approval rate may have been in the.... The
percentages varied, but generally speaking, they would have been
around 60%. I'm generalizing. We are now, I think, at 79%, if |
count absolutely everything, on first app approval. I usually say that
it's over 80% because a lot of them are really higher. That is based
on looking at what VRAB was rendering as decisions.

There are some that we will never be able to do. Okay, let's put
those aside; I can't do anything about that. But on the other ones,
why would they accept certain information and we would not? I'd
go back to my policy colleagues and ask, “Okay, is this acceptable
or not as evidence?” In many cases, it is and then we actually use
that.

Mr. Alex Ruff: How often do you go back and forth to verify
and do that lessons learned process?

Mr. Rick Christopher: We meet with the board formally quar-
terly, but there's also a lot of toing and froing when there are some
particularly interesting types of cases that are coming forward.

I want to add to Michel's point that you can bring something be-
fore the board if you're not satisfied with our assessment of how
bad your injury is or if we said no, that we didn't believe it was ser-
vice-related. There are two things. You may have had an approval
in terms of, “Yes, we agree that this is related to your service”, but
you don't agree with the assessment.

The other thing that happens at the board is that you can bring
verbal testimony. When Michel talked about BPA screening people
out, sometimes it's a conversation that the Bureau of Pensions Ad-
vocates has with the applicant, with the veteran, who says, “You
know what? If you just give the department this diagnosis, that's
what they're looking for.” The veteran says that they don't have to
go any further than that, that they can just give it to them and they
believe that it'll be approved. Some of that screening out is what
happens, and it comes back in through us as a reassessment or a re-
consideration. I think that BPA did only a couple of thousand last
year.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

MP Amos, go ahead, please.

Mr. William Amos (Pontiac, Lib.): First off, thanks to all of our
witnesses. | have many constituents who work with Veterans Af-
fairs and I want to say to you and also to your colleagues through
you, thank you for your service to Canada. We know how hard you
work and we know what a challenge it is to speed up processes
when you're dealing with challenges of shifting organizational cul-
ture.

I want to reference testimony from two years ago by you, Mr.
Natynczyk, in which you said there was an organizational culture
that needed to shift.

I want to invite you to connect the dots for me a bit. You testified
previously that during the Harper mandate, the staff at Veterans Af-
fairs was cut back to 2,300 overall. It is now back to 2,900. It takes
time to build that cohort back, but there was also an organizational
culture, as I understand it from testimony from the Senate subcom-
mittee two years ago, that didn't necessarily give claimants the ben-
efit of the doubt, and there needed to be a shift towards a presump-
tion of benefits required.

I wonder if there's a connection between that organizational cul-
tural shift that was required and the fact that the complement of
Veterans Affairs officials was diminished so much that there wasn't
the ability to treat all of the files that were being requested.
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Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Coming into the department,
especially an organization that had lost so many folks, and with a
head office away from the national capital in a small community....
For a headquarters to go from 2,000 folks to 1,100 folks was a
shock, and it kind of goes to this notion of a perfect storm. Mr.
Casey is living right there in the community and he knows what it
was like. People were scared to make a decision. As the chief of the
defence staff, I was watching this from my side of the Rideau and
saying, “Oh my goodness. What's going on?”

Coming into the job, I wanted to make sure that everybody in the
department felt empowered to make the right decisions. I had the
notion of delegating authority, empowering people to make a deci-
sion and then trusting them to do it right. I still remember back in
November 2014 visiting our office here in Ottawa and confirming
when [ visited Halifax and confirming when 1 visited Ville de
Québec the fact that our folks were almost shell-shocked because of
this onslaught, this tsunami of mental health injured veterans, and
yet at the same time, there seemed to be difficulty in getting the
message back to head office that was going through the shock
wave.

Having served in a number of operations, I came up with the
line, “The further you are from the sound of the guns, the less you
understand.” I came up with that one in Baghdad. The same holds
true in our department. Our front-line workers who are social work-
ers, occupational therapists and psychologists are meeting with vet-
erans every day, looking them in the eye, looking the family in the
eye, and they're trying to find a way to say yes. They are working
in the grey zone, and they're seeing the reality, whereas the further
you are from the veteran in this case the more things become bina-
ry. You're working in policy or you're working in finance. Not to
disparage my colleagues, but that's the reality of it.

We had the notion of care, compassion and respect. Our mission
was to care. If we have to default in decision-making, it's to com-
passion, and we will always respect the veterans. The reality is that
if folks default to compassion, we will support them. Again, we
have to follow legislation and regulation and so on, but it empowers
people to make decisions.

We think about where we were in 2014, and we just found out
recently that Veterans Affairs Canada is in the Forbes top 100 em-
ployers. What was the number? Was it 74? It was in the top 100,
and so we've come a long way. We see again that our employees are
feeling that additional folks have come on and assisted them.

We are dealing with the backlog. In the town halls that I have
done recently and the town halls that the minister has done, we
have heard about the backlog and we're pulling out the stops. But in
terms of empowering employees to make the right decisions for
veterans and to nudge them into well-being, this is tough. Some of
these folks don't want to be nudged. We need to nudge them to-
wards purpose. We need to nudge them towards their mental and
physical well-being. We need to provide family support around
them. That takes a lot of care and compassion.

Mr. William Amos: Thank you.

The Chair: Mr. Desilets, you have two and a half minutes.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: I'm going to fire off two or three questions.

How do you explain the fact that women wait longer for deci-
sions? I understand why francophones might have to wait longer,
but why does it take longer to process women's claims?

Mr. Michel Doiron: There are a few reasons that might explain
it.

First, the situations are more complex. In the past, we didn't fully
understand the consequences that wearing the equipment could
have on a woman's body, for example.

I began my career in customs, and I wore a bulletproof vest,
which fit me quite well, even though I'm a fairly big guy. My wife
works in customs as well, and I can tell you that her experience
wearing the bulletproof vest isn't the same as mine. It may seem
like a trivial thing, but it can cause injuries, which may not have
been recognized before.

Oftentimes, the cases are more complex. I won't go through all of
them, but I'll give you one example. Last week, I was at a briefing,
and it came as a surprise to hear that there were cases involving im-
pacts on reproductive organs. Men can experience those problems
as well. For instance, it's pretty clear how post-traumatic stress syn-
drome could lead to impotence. Women, however, are affected dif-
ferently, and those effects aren't well known.

® (1025)

Mr. Luc Desilets: There's a shortage of staff. The issue is pretty
clear. It seems to be a bit worse in Quebec, as far as case managers
go. Despite the context, do you have a plan to deal with the short-
age?

Mr. Michel Doiron: Absolutely.

In Quebec right now, we aren't having too much trouble on the
recruiting side, for one reason or another. Finding candidates
doesn't pose a challenge, but we do have a plan. We are always re-
cruiting.

As the deputy minister mentioned, the reality is we lose 12% of
our case managers annually. We are able to fill vacant positions ev-
ery year, but new employees aren't operational for another year.
That's how long it takes to train them. At any given point in the
year, we are short basically 20% of our staff. Either new employees
are in training, or we are trying to recruit people.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: They're in training.

Mr. Michel Doiron: That's right. They are in training. We are al-
ways recruiting, and we always have people in training.
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In Alberta, we used to have trouble keeping people. We also had
trouble filling certain positions, but Dr. Courchesne worked incredi-
bly hard to fix that. At one time, we were having trouble recruiting
physicians, and now, they come knocking on our door because the
culture has changed. Medical officers aren't the only ones coming
to us; other doctors are as well. I'm generalizing, but we have a lot
less trouble recruiting them now. Recruitment and training do take
time, though.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you.

MP Blaney, you have two and a half minutes.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: I want to say thank you, Walt, for mention-
ing the amazing folks at 19 Wing. It's a great honour for me to rep-
resent them, and I enjoy my time with both squadrons 407 and 442.
They've taken me out on some really interesting trips that included
my being hoisted up in the air. I really enjoyed it. The depth of ad-
miration that I have for their skill set is tremendous. I am so grate-
ful they are there, but I can't imagine the harm to their bodies, espe-
cially for squadron 442.

We've talked about the FTEs. Are you planning to increase that,
or are you happy where you are? I understand maintenance of that.
I've been an employer before. I understand that people cycle
through the system. Is this where you're planning to stay or is there
a desire to have more?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: We are collecting the data in
terms of the growth of demand, also recognizing that the solutions
are not only about getting additional folks, figuring out what we
need to do to digitize and what we need to re-engineer our process
and what we need in terms of not only dealing with attrition but to
project forward four or five years, because it takes that long
through the pipeline of training to get the right workforce re-engi-
neering digitization. We are putting that case together in order to
work with other departments and ask how we move forward.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: I want to take a moment to follow up on the
complexity of women's claims. I appreciate the answer that you
gave my colleague, but is there research going into this, and is that
something that you could give to this committee at some point?

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I can start off by saying we had
a summit last year, working with our allies. We've actually created
an office of women veterans and LGBTQ2 veterans. We stood up
that office, which reports to Steven.

Mr. Steven Harris: I think that's the nexus point for us in terms
of being able to connect with our stakeholders to better understand
issues that may arise for women veterans and to make changes to
our processes.

Michel and Rick have talked about how they found there are
challenges with some of the ways in which we may adjudicate dis-
ability claims, for example. That might be based on the fact that
90% of the business is uniquely male in terms of the issues and
challenges there. What we've done by setting up the office, led by a
former military member herself, who's out and consulting broadly
with the women's stakeholders organizations, is to get a sense from
them of where the challenges might be. We are also working inter-
nally with all of our areas, including my policy area, to make sure
that, as we go forward with new policies, new programs and

changes, that we can integrate that lens and viewpoint. As you
know, there's a gender-based analysis process for all Government of
Canada programs. It's not unique to Veterans Affairs Canada, but
this is a special lens we're trying to bring to this for those individu-
als specifically.

® (1030)

Ms. Rachel Blaney: It's an important one, because when you
look at the military side, in Canada we're still having challenges
getting enough women. In my family, the majority of the people
serving at this point are women, so our family is doing well, but
women as a whole are not represented well. I'm wondering if
there's any impact when they're hearing that the other side of it has
some struggles. I'm hoping that gets cleared up so that it's more
welcoming.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I'm very pleased that we have
Lieutenant-Colonel (Retired) Christina Hutchins leading the
charge. She was the first female logistics officer of the airborne
regiment.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
That brings us to the end of a very quick three rounds.

We have some time left. I know there's some desire for ques-
tions. We have about 14 minutes left, so each party could receive
maybe two and a half to three minutes, enough time for one quick
question and one quick response.

We'll start with MP Wagantall.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Thank you. I have one more question.

You have set up some advisory groups to assist you from within
the veterans community. I know the one on service excellence met
recently. These backlogs are a huge issue. I'm wondering, since the
election, when have you met with the other groups and what feed-
back have you received from them.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I really enjoyed my time talk-
ing to the service excellence advisory group, SEAG, the other day.
The co-chair of that committee is right over here, Rick Christopher.
Steven co-chairs the policy one.

Maybe, Steven, you could run down when the one on commemo-
ration and all the others have come back together.

Mr. Steven Harris: Sure.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: 1'd like to know especially about the
ones in relation to the backlog, so those that are meeting. The men-
tal health advisory group, the care and support advisory group, and
the group on families are the ones I think would be most impacted
by what we're hearing about and seeing as the largest concern.

Mr. Steven Harris: I'm engaged with the policy group and the
commemoration group.

I'll stick just to the policy group. They're not so focused on the
backlog. They're looking at questions of how programs and policies
work and the interaction between those. Ultimately, that does come
down to how often and how long it might take for somebody to get
access to programs and get access to benefits from us.
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In terms of the families and others, I'll turn it over to my col-
leagues to try to talk about those to the extent that they know about
them. I know the policy group met in December, after the election.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: When have you met since the elec-
tion?

Mr. Steven Harris: For policy, it was in December.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Was that your group, the commemora-
tion group?

Mr. Steven Harris: Yes.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: What about the others?

Mr. Steven Harris: That's the only one I'm in.

Mr. Michel Doiron: I was the co-chair. I've turned it over.
SEAG met this week. I'm not aware of the other ones. I'm not in-
volved with them. I'm not sure—

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: The mental health group is go-
ing to meet next week.

Mr. Michel Doiron: Mental health is meeting next week.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: That's great. Okay.

Mr. Michel Doiron: The chairs are behind us.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Wonderful. Thank you.

What about the one on families and the health advisory group?
Mr. Michel Doiron: I don't know, but we can get back to you.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: We'll get you the dates that
they're meeting.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: I would appreciate that. Thank you.

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: I'll also say that the minister
spoke to the co-chair of each of the committees and asked them to
continue doing their work. That's why we met with the service ex-
cellence group this week, and the other groups are meeting, so the
work continues on all six advisory groups.

Mrs. Cathay Wagantall: Have they been advised, particularly
with regard to the backlog, to give feedback in—

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: With regard to service excel-

lence, a lot of the points I've made today I went through with the
group, with Rick, this week.

Rick.

Mr. Rick Christopher: We spent almost the entire day on Tues-
day talking about the backlog and various approaches, so when we
talked about incomplete applications, for instance, I was looking
for their advice on the best way, the most compassionate way, to
deal with these.

The Chair: Thank you.

Darrell, we have time for a very quick question.

Mr. Darrell Samson: Since 2015 we've added seven or eight
new programs. Can you give us the top three with regard to uptake?

® (1035)

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: [ would start off with the edu-
cation and training benefit. Again, it is so difficult to get folks serv-
ing in the armed forces to plan for their next life, and we know that
the key to a transition is having a plan. The uptake on the the edu-

cation and training benefit has been extraordinary, as it has on the
career transition services.

Last year we put a call out for the veteran and family well-being
fund. In the fund we have about $3 million a year. We re-
ceived $182 million of ask.

We launched the veterans emergency fund , and we continually
top it up because the need is so significant across the board.

I'll stop there and turn it over to my colleagues to address policy
and service delivery and anything else.

Mr. Steven Harris: Obviously, one of the other major platform
commitments was pension for life , and that was delivered starting
last year. That's three new programs. There was also a reduction in
the number of programs to reduce complexity and make it as sim-
ple as possible, both from an adjudication and a delivery point of
view, so that it's simple for veterans to understand.

There are three programs there, including the income replace-
ment benefit, the pain and suffering compensation, and the addi-
tional pain and suffering compensation.

Mr. Michel Doiron: For me, there are two game-changers. I'll
stick to two because everybody mentioned the one you heard me
talk about here before.

First, there's the veterans emergency fund. I think that's the one
that has made the biggest difference on the ground. I can actually
direct a veteran to it, and I don't have to do a disability assessment
of any sort to get the veteran off the street. Maybe they're not on the
street, but maybe they had a flood in their house, or something hap-
pened. Well, we can help them with minimal paperwork. We have
to do some paperwork; it is the government after all. It's minimal
paperwork, though, and we can help them. We were spending a lot
of money from our charities, but this was a game-changer. It's a
major one, and I'm very passionate about it.

Second, there's the IRB. We used to call it the EL benefit. When
we went from 75% to 90%, that really changed things. In the case
management ratios, our business case was premised on approxi-
mately 9,800 case-managed veterans. We blew through that. We are
now up to 14,000. When you make 90% of your pre-release salary,
that ensures the financial security of those individuals. That is an-
other major program.
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Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: Can I just touch on the veter-
ans emergency fund? I was up in North Bay, and I was trying to fig-
ure out why North Bay is our highest consumer of the veterans
emergency fund. I'd thought it would be Halifax, but in consump-
tion per capita, it's North Bay. They are supporting World War II
veteran survivors and widows, and they don't have to do the paper-
work to get dentures or hearing aids for widows. This makes me so
proud of our staff.

On the income replacement benefit, it's 90%. I just heard from
the service excellence advisory group the other day that the best
idea we've come out with is that someone on income replacement
benefit can make up to $20,000 without any clawback. This means
they are actually being incentivized to find purpose. Whether they
want to work at a Home Depot or any other store or they want to
start a little business of fishing lures or whatever, they're finding
purpose. That's why they say the best idea was that $20,000 of al-
lowable income before clawback.

Mr. Darrell Samson: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
MP Desilets, please.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you, again, for being here today.

I want to ask you something that's both simple and complex.
What's your biggest challenge for 2020?

Mr. Michel Doiron: The backlog, period.

The first issue the committee decided to tackle was the backlog. |
think that's wonderful. We are open to every effort. We want to get
to the bottom of the problem. We are serious about it, and we have
set money aside to do just that. It remains our biggest challenge.

When I first started appearing before the veterans affairs commit-
tee, | was getting 20 problem cases a day. It was a crisis in 2014-15.
I still get 20 cases a day. Nineteen of them have to do with the
turnaround time for a decision.

® (1040)

Gen (Ret'd) Walter Natynczyk: It's the department's number
one challenge. I've met with the Minister of Veterans Affairs and
department officials many times, and every time, the backlog is the
priority.

I want to reiterate how much I appreciate Mr. Doiron's and
Mr. Christopher's hard work. When a claim involves an injury, ev-
erything goes smoothly. When the injury occurs in the theatre of
operations, there are no issues. All the documentation is fine.

We have cases where a decision is issued within a month. My
driver injured his knee in Bosnia, and he got a decision within a
month. That's great, but it's a specific case. We want the system to
work like that for all our veterans.

[English]

The Chair: Thank you for the brief question. We haven't had
very many of those today.

MP Blaney, please.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: 1 want to confirm from my last question
that you will undertake to get the committee some information
specifically on the complexity of women's cases.

The backlog is the biggest issue for us as well, and to veterans
more importantly than any of us. I appreciate that everyone in this
room really cares about the people who serve this country and their
families. We continue to want to work together to see that support
provided.

The veterans ombudsman did suggest a checklist for all docu-
ments so when they are sent in there is a checklist you can review
and if anything's missing, it's automatically given back.

Has that step been taken? If it was taken, how quickly did it sup-
port the change of the backlog?

Mr. Rick Christopher: There is a checklist, but it's more for the
applicant at this point. We took to heart what the ombudsman said.
I discussed it with the service excellence advisory group yesterday.
It's about looking at those applications right away. That's the trou-
ble. We have such an influx, such a volume of applications that by
the time we get to review them and make sure that everything is
available, sometimes we're well into the time period.

We haven't done it yet, but we're going to dedicate some clerical
staff to go through the checklist, similar to what the Royal Canadi-
an Legion does, make sure and then, in a very compassionate way,
reach out to those individuals and say we can't proceed with their
application until we have additional information or that they forgot
to sign it.

A lot of our resources are used chasing people down. As Michel
mentioned earlier, they're on vacation, or they're not answering
their phone for whatever reason and we can't get that information. I
would much rather be able to send the applications back to them,
send them a letter, or communicate with them electronically if that's
how they've chosen to be contacted, and then say the clock is not
ticking until we have that information from them.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

That brings us to the end of our first meeting for this study.

I can't thank you enough. This has been very educational, very
informative. There were a lot of good questions and a lot of very
good answers to help us in our work.

I hope all of you have safe travels getting back to where you
came from. It may be a little harder than it was coming here.
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I have a housekeeping note for my colleagues. We had a lot of
time today. We did not have two panels. I was very generous with
the clock. When we have two panels and we have to tighten things
up, I will be slightly less generous. I will try to be polite. Try to
keep the preambles short so we can hear as much from the witness-
es as possible.

As always, thank you to the folks on my left and right, and those
behind me.

The meeting is adjourned.
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